o The Eart T enne

77"16 1S AN ;H#Cmé%‘.@
hcisf‘or/ of 7he beildiyg

Two of the very impor
nessee relate to (1) the ti

identity of the peoples p

Since occupancy of Nor
tures, and other cultural
Cherokee, we may wcll a
Norris Basin. If it may
result of the advent of the
dendrochronology the la
Norris Basin, a close app
Cherokee into East Tennc ﬁ =

Scotls bovo guls/ he
Kvew CD w hied vorle .
2 road W ovld fs Ke .

r
In 1673 Colonel Abrah: | L2
Necdham and a2 white o Bc cerfom 1o reed poes 29 5

ploration into the mounta — "99‘*’8‘8'%‘6 W

reported on a tribe called tuc 1 amanita ana, arter tn€ aeatn or Neednam.
Arthur lived for a season with them. This tribe has been identified as
Yuchi,® and its early location placed on the westward slope of the moun-
tains, on streams tributary to the Tennessee River.

It is interesting to speculate on the possibility that the builders of the
rectangular large log structures in Norris Basin may have been Yuchi.
In this connection Arthur mentions another tribe evidently closely asso-
ciated with the Yuchi. He says: “All ye Wesock children they take are
brought up with them as ye Ianesaryes are a2 mongst ye Turkes.”” If
the Wesock of Arthur, probably a Siouan tribe, account for this other
phase of culture in the Norris Basin, we may have a vague and uncertain
suggestion of the identity of the people on the streams tributary to the
Tennessee, before the coming of the Cherokee. Thus may we speculate.

Much of the final writing of the prehistory of East Tennessec is yc!
to be done. This Society and all Tennessee is to be congratulated on
the attempt recently begun by the University of Tennessee to continue
the study of prehistory in this state. The establishment of a de-
partment of archaeology at the University of Tennessee and its oc-
cupancy by so able a research worker in prehistory® guarantec the
solution of many of the unsolved problems of early times and a great

advance in the knowledge of the prehistory of southeastern United States.

*Clarence Walworth Alvord and Lee Bidgood, The First Explorations of the Trans-
All.cghcny Region by the Virginians, 1650-1674 (Cleveland, 1912), 212,
John R. Swanton, Early History of the Creek Indians and their Neighbors | Bu-

reau of American Ethnology, Budletin 73] (Washington, 1922), 188-189,
"Alvord and Bidgood, op. cit., 218.

“The reference is to Professor T. M. N. Lewis [Ed.).
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THE BUILDING OF THE MEMPHIS AND CHARLESTOXN
RAILROAD

By T. D. CLARK

-~

The Memphis and Charleston Railroad grew out of numerous at-
tempts made in the second quarter of the nineteenth century to connect
the East and the West. The West at that time followed the line of

least resistance, and so long as the Mississippi River brought a stream
of traffic into Memphis, planters and merchants were little disposed to
make efforts at improving transportation facilities from Memphis to
other sections of the country. However, Memphis had well developed
ambitions to become the gateway to the West, but to realize these she
would have to connect with the Atlantic seaboard. Not only was Mem-
phis vitally interested in intersectional transportation, but likewise the
communities between Memphis and the seaboard; in fact, it was from
one of these communities that the first move to form an east to west con-
nection was made. Thus, this is the story of the building of a railroad
from Memphis to Chattanooga, where connections were formed with the
railways of East Tennessee, Georgia, and South Carolina.

Northern Alabama was a newly settled country at the time the railroad
idea was introduced into the United.States, but despite the newness of
the section a thriving trade was plying its way up and down the Ten-
nessee River Valley. A serious obstacle to this trade, however, was the
Muscle Shoals, which prevented heavily laden craft from navigating the
river except during the flush season. Profiting by the cxample the
progressive citizens of South Carolina were setting, citizens of Tus-
cumbia, Alabama, became interested in the railroad as a possible solution
of their problem of getting around the shoals. Agitation for a railroad
was started as early as the first months of 1829. Few had ever seen a
railroad, and they knew little, if anything, about what it was like.
Nevertheless, many felt sure that the community could build at least
the two and a fraction miles of road necessary to connect the town
and the river.! A delegation was sent to the Alabama legislature, and
on January 15, 1830, the Tuscumbia Railroad Company was chartered,

'Laws of Alabama, 1829-1830 (Montgomery), 46.
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the first west of the Appalachian Mountains.? The cani \
$20,000, was subscribed almost immediately after the cot,;l;ln;m\:ask'
chartered, but construction was delayed until June 1, 1831. The right-
of-vfray, whcg It was sccured, was a winding affair, some of the curves
hfavmg a r:;dms of 400 feet, and the roadbed had 2 maximum inclination
oi twenty feet per mile. The roadbed was 1 ed. Thet
was laid transversely on five by seven inch str}’:grgig;a,don top of Wl:?(f:
a two by (?nc-ha.l.f inch iron strip was plaged. The gauge was five fect
and nine inches, and the space between the sills was converted into a
treadway for the horses drawing the cars.? On Junc 12, 1832, the
opening of the road was made possible.*

.Thc completion of the Tuscumbia road sharpened the appetite of the
railway supporters for more. On January 13, 1832, a charter was
granted the Tuscumbia, Courtland, and Decatur Railroad Company,
with Benjamin Sherrod as president. The new company was to be
capitalized at any sum the directors deemed advisable, provided it did
not exceed $1,000,000. Subscribers accepting stock also accepted a joint
responsibility for the financal future of the company, because their
estates automatically became security for the debts of the company. The
newly chartered road was to begin at Tuscumbia and extend to Decatur
in Morgan county by way of Courtland, a distance of forty-three and
one-tenth miles.® The stock for the longer line was subscribed imme-
diately ; the company was organized ; and plans were set on foot to start
a survey by February, 1833. By May of that year a portion of the road
was under contract, and the task of grading the roadbed was well under
way. In March, 1834, the steamer James Monroe arrived at Waterloo,
Alabama, with iron for the road. Damage to the vessel, on which two
freight cars had been shipped, had delayed operations.®
On July 4, 1834, the horse-drawn cars of the infant railroad clamored
into the little town of Courtland, a distance of twenty-three and onc-
fourth miles from Tuscumbia. As on the Tuscumbia road, the sills had
been laid five feet and nine inches apart, allowing a suitable treadway
for the horses in the center.” The cost of the road, including turn-outs
at intervals of every two miles, averaged around $4,000 per mile.

*The Pontchartrain Railroad Company of .
1830, and the Lexington and Ohio (Kentucky) was chartered on January 27, 9175‘10
(John G. Starr, One Hundred Years of American Railroading [New York, 1929},

. [asus ky, 1829-1830 |Frankfort], 126). e
ms‘Albcrt gg&‘“ﬁ!ﬂxm of Alabama, and Incidentally of Georgia and MississipM

Period (Birmingham, 1909), 688. : 2
fr’:"l::t‘tcr"/ z’angs'tlif E;xincer Deshler, August 19, 1834,” in The American Rellrend

Journal [New York], October 4, 1834,
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1 otter from Chief Engineer
Jowrnal, October 4, 1834,
"1bid., October 4, 1834,

———I e —————— — e

e
R

— —— et — I TSI S5 o v Vi stiew
Lhe B mbllng O] Lhe DLEMPrus AR U RaTiEssom I arr

| —

- S TNE— -~

W —

DR

e e —

Until June 1, 1834, horses were used as the only sorm of motive
power, but upon that date the company partly mechanized the road by
placing in operation a little four and one-half ton locomotive with an
eicht-inch stroke. The engine was able to maintain the then unbe-
lievable speed of forty miles per hour® On January 8, 1835, the cars
passed over the entire length of the road from Tuscumbia to Decatur,
and from that time the road was in active use day and night transporting
the cotton crop of the up-country to the river front below the falls’

Almost from the beginning the road encountered financial difficulties
and it was necessary on October 1, 1833, to execute a first mortgage be-
cause of the failure of the stockholders to pay their pledges. To insure
this mortgage, a lien was given upon the entire holdings of the company,
and it was upon borrowed funds that the road was completed to Decatur™
After the refusal of the Mississippi legislature to charter the road
through the northeastern counties of that state, confusion arose betwesn
the directors and the officials of the company. The roadbed was allowed
to run down, and in 1840 the company defaulted in 1ts interest pay-
ments. A holding company was then formed to take over the road and
to hold it until final payment was made. During the time that the set-
tlement of the road’s affairs was pending the creditors leased the road

to Messrs. Reese, Farrier, and Banks to be operated in connection with

their steamboat trade from Tuscumbia westward. They were the holders
of $76,000 worth of first mortgage bonds on which interest payments
had been defaulted since 1840. The road was advertised for sale and
foreclosed September 22, 1847, at public auction.’ It was bought in by
David Deshler, former chief enginecr, and was incorporated into the
Tennessee Valley Railroad Company on February 10, 1848. After the
incorporation of the Tennessee Valley Company nothing sccms to have
been done with the road until 1850, when the newly chartered Memphis
and Charleston Railroad Company eficcted an agreement with the Ten-
nessee Valley Company to incorporate its holdings into a general system
connecting the Mississippi River with the Atlantic seaboard.’

Memphis had possibilities of becoming the commercial center of West
Tennessee, provided suitable transportation facilities could be developed.
The soil of the Memphis territory was of an alluvial type, which in the
history of road building never has proved conducive to successful high-
wav construction, and especially is this true when the surface of the road

is left exposed. From the beginning Memphis took her place as a cot-

*Ibid., October 4, 1834,

"Ihid.. October 4, 1834, .. ‘

*Fairfax Harrison, A History of the Legal Development of the Southern Roifsoay
Company (Washington, 1901), 717.

"Ihid., 717,

"I mws of Alabama, January 7, 1850, No. 128, p. 183,
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ton market and distributing center for West Tennessee and the north-

eastern counties of Mississippi.

Edmund Pendleton Gaines was transferred to the Memphis territory
in the military service of the United States. He was a native of Vir-
ginia, and naturally was interested in developing the Atlantic seaboard.
In 1807, when Gaines was sent out to arrest Aaron Burr, he began
thinking of the possibilities of tying the West to the East with a system
of turnpikes and canals. In 1826 he approached the national government
through the war department with his plans for connecting the East and
the West. The war department, however, was in no position to heed
his suggestion.'® Undaunted by his government’s indifference, Gaincs
proceeded to secure all the information possible about the territory east
of Memphis, because therc was the possibility that in the near future he
would be in a position to use this information to good advantage. Cer-
tainly there was a possibility, for the citizens of Tuscumbia were already

industriously engaged in building a link of road which could easily be
extended into a Memphis to Atlantic project. Much thought was given
the difficulty of passing to and from Memphis over the miry roads of
Shelby and adjoining counties. A request was made to the state legis-
lature, praying—a prayer the legislature granted—that a charter be
granted a railroad company “for the purpose of facilitating intercourse
between the towns of LaGrange in Fayette County, and Memphis in
Shelby County, and for no other purpose whatsoever.”"*

Memphis was looked upon as the possible terminus of a railroad ex-

tending westward from Charleston as early as 1831 by John C, Calhoun
and his followers. The chartering of the Memphis Railroad Company
helped to strengthen the notion. That belief accounts for the change

in name from the Memphis Railroad Company to the Atlantic and Mis-
sissippi Railroad Company.’® |

The citizens of Bolivar, Tennessee, in need of an outlet for their

produce, on March 22, 1834, revived the question of constructing a rail-
way by calling a joint meeting of the citizens of McNairy, Fayette, and

Shelby counties. The question of prime importance at this meeting wns
the construction of a railroad from Memphis to some point on the Ten:

nessee River.1®

John C. Calhoun and Robert Y. Hayne had their eyes on the West
as a source of supply for the South, but it was impossible for those gen-

tlemen to agree on the point where the proposed road should tap the
Mississippi River trade. Calhoun favored the Muscle Shoals route for

uSt. George L. Sioussat, “Memnhis As a Gateway of the West,” in Tennessee

Historical Magazine, 111 (1917), 81,
“Iowuw of Tennessee (Nashville), December 17, 1831, chapter cexxi, 185
“Private Acts of Tennessee, 1811, chapter 49,
“Charles Robert, Nashuille and Her Trade for 1870 (Nashville, 1870), 304.
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he believed that Memphis was the most satisfactory point at which the
Charleston road should terminate in the West. With this idea in mind
he made a joint appeal in 1835 to the citizens of Fayette and Shelby
counties for a charter, and for their support in building such a read.'
The LaGrange and Memphis road was chartered December 14, 1835,
with a capital stock of £375,000.'® During the legislative session of
1835 and 1836 the Tennessee legislature felt that it was the duty of the
state to assist the Memphians in reaching their goal by offering them
state aid. The railroad company, according to the legislative plan, was
asked to raise two-thirds of the capital stock and the legislature would
provide the remaining one-third.'”

[n 1837 the LaGrange and Memphis Company finally secured enough
financial support to begin construction. A roadbed from Memphis to
l.aGrange, Tennessee, was graded, and the track laid for a distance of
six miles, Due to the poor construction, however, wrecks were numerous,
causing serious damage both to coaches and to passengers.*® The first
coaches to be used on the new road were horse-drawn English stage-
coaches equipped with flanged wheels. The first locomotive was of
Philadelphia manufacture, and was brought to Memphis by boat. When
it was made known that the boat bearing the locomotive was about to
land, a goodly crowd gathered on the bluff to witness the unloading.
lrpmediately after the boat had landed, the little engine was crowned
with flowers. The president of the company then offered all who would
assist with the unloading a free ride in the coaches. The engine was
hauled through the streets of Memphis to the rails by the mob, preceded
by a brass band. The ceremony of placing the locomotive on the rails
was carried out in due style. A problem arose, however, when the engine
was placed on the rails—who would drive it? No one knew how to
operate the thing, and it was a day or two before a mechanic with enough
cou mge’and mechanical skill could be found to undertake the task. After
the engine was started, it took a considerable amount of persuasion to
find passengers enough to give a demonstration. Many of those who
had so enthusiastically helped convey the engine from the boat-landing
o the railroad allowed their courage to fail them. When the trial ru:

Was made, the bystanders were disgusted that the locomotive went no
faster than the average coach team.?!

"Robert Y, Hayne favored a road to Cincinnati and the Northwest. For Calhoun's

;i;;ws sce Samuel C, Williams, Beginnings of West Tenmessee (Johnson City, 1930),

1 ’ ' - h

“Williams, op. eit., 171,

» .

'The Memphis and LaGrange Company had its offices in LaGrange.
Memphis Commercial Appeal (historical edition), December 30, 1900.
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s he LaGrange and Memphis Company had a gloomy history, for ¢
road was in operation for a period of only eight months.*® The farmers,
coming in from the outskirts of Shelby county, had no reason for
transferring their produce to the cars after they themselves had bumped
over the roads of the county to the railway station: the transfer would
relieve them of only six miles of additional road travel. The panic of
1837 afflicted the LaGrange and Memphis Company with an ill which
proved too serious for it to overcome. There were various scheming
friends who hoped to put the project back on its feet. One of these,
John Christian McLemore, conceived a plan by which he hoped that both
he and the railroad company might be benefited. He owned 208 acres
of land to the south of Memphis at Fort Pickering, and he suggested
that the railroad company should take over his land, paying him a stipu-
lated sum, and then lay off the land in lots to be sold to those individuals
who were in favor of building a town in competition with Memphis. The
railway officials were foolish enough to accept the scheme, but it failed
simultaneously with the railway venture.?

Colonel Stephen H. Long expressed himself as being wholly dis-
satisfied with the survey which had been ordered by Lewis Cass, secretary
of war, in 1834. Colonel Long objected to that early survey becausc it
anticipated using the Tennessee River as an auxiliary carrier. The
question of extending the railroad from the Atlantic to the Mississippi
was one that was uppermost in the minds of the founders of the two early
links of railroad between Memphis and the Georgia state line. A plan
was put on foot as early as 1834 to extend the Tuscumbia, Courtland,
and Decatur road as far west as,Memphis.. A convention, calling to-
gether the citizens of Madison, Morgan, Limestone, Franklin, and
Lawrence counties, was called in the county courthouse in Huntsville,
Alabama, on August 13, 1835, for the distinct purpose of considering
the extension of the road to Huntsville on the east, and to Memphis on

the west. Clements C. Clay was appointed presiding officer, and resolu-
tions were adopted to the effect that $200,000 be subscribed beforc the

legislature was memorialized for a charter, and that a second mceting
should be called to pass upon the charter to be granted by the legislative
body.*!

The convention of the Alabama counties anticipated that the Mem-
phis project would succeed, but when President Charles Potts macle his
annual report in 1839, it was to the effect that the LaGrange and Mcm-
phis Company was insolvent, that is, unless the solvent members, who
had subscribed to its stock in order to enable the company to secure state
aid, would redeem their pledges, A drive was made to secure at lcast

“James D, Davis, History of Memphis (Memphis, 1873), 30.
"Williams, 3{0 cit,, 171,
“Southern Advocale (Huntsville), ‘August 6, 1836,
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fifty per cent of the pledges, but the subscribers refused 1. .dvance any
further payments,*®

By a scries of legislative acts the LaGrange and Memphis Company
acquired the rights and privileges to build as many branches into the
counties of West Tennessee as it might see fit to build.*® The privilege
of building branch roads was a millstone about the company’s neck,
however, for the legislature went to the extent of moving up the time
limit for the completion of the road, but to no avail.?" - The directors of
the company were unable to stir themselves from their suicidal lethargy.
A desperate effort was made at the LaGrange convention on July 4, 1849,
when a special committee was appointed to discover, if it could, means
by which the road might be completed. The committee failed in its
cfforts. The legislature remained ambitious for the road, but the ven-
ture failed. Plans had already been made for the Memphis convention
of 1849, so the LaGrange Company gave up the ghost.?* The affairs
of the old LaGrange and Memphis Company were finally brought to a
close under an act of the legislature authorizing the final settlement of
the company’s affairs.?

The people of Memphis were thoroughly conscious of the importance
of a direct means of communication between the Mississippi River and
the Atlantic ports to the east. As to resources, there was no question,
because the road, as already indirectly projected in the LaGrange and
Memphis, and the Tuscumbia, Courtland, and Decatur projects, had
proved the existence of sufficient resources. The proposed east and
west road would tap the rich cotton producing counties of southern
Tennessee and the Tennessee River counties of northern Alabama. With-
out these resources, however, the trade from the east to the west and
vice versa would have served as a sufficient stimulus for the construction
of the road. The railroad companies and the citizens of Georzia and
South Carolina were favorably disposed toward the idea. The federal
rovernment also favored the project for it looked upon the road as a
solution to the problem of patrolling the western frontier.

In 1845 the cotton growers and merchants of the neighboring towns
1o Memphis brought up once again the question of building a railroad
.f rom Memphis to Charleston.* The general agitation came to a head
In the Memphis convention of 1845. That convention marked the
iriumph of the group headed by John C. Calhoun. That group had
argucd since 1830 that such a project was feasible. The convention was

:Ammal Report T'uscumbia and Decatur [Railroad Company], 1839.
"lﬁ}v.r of Tennessce, December 30, 1841, chapter 28, p. 25.
(bid,, January 10, 1844, chapter 73, p. 93.

:Mcmphis ?‘n-chNy Appeal, Octoher 25, 1849,
”I.aw.r of 7cmw.r.n:c, Fcbruary 9, 1854, chapter 328, p. 771.
James Phelan, # istory of Tennessee (Boston, 1888), 286.
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presi...d over by Calhoun and he threw open the floor to free discussion
of several projects which the friends of internal improvement had in
mind. Calhoun avowed himself in favor of federal aid for the improve-

ment of the channel of the Mississippi River.*

The Tennessee legislature, largely due to the influence of the Mem-
phis convention of 1845, chartered the Memphis and Charleston Railroad
Company February 2, 1846.** This newly chartered project was broader
in scope than ever could have been possible with the two local companics

which it absorbed.®?

The convention which met in Memphis October 23, 1849, was com-
posed of enthusiastic Memphis and Charleston Railroad supporters from
West Tennessee, Mississippi, Georgia, and South Carolina. Ex-Govern-
or “Lean Jimmy” Jones of Tennessee, a staunch railway supporter, acted
as presiding officer. His first official act was to open subscription books.
The results were most gratifying, as $50,000 were subscribed in less than
thirty minutes.** That convention was followed by still others along the
proposed route. In Huntsville, Alabama, on November 4, 1849, the
interested citizens expressed their desire for a road which would link
them with the trade of South Carolina and Georgia. Memphis had al-
ready made known the fact that she would subscribe $500,000. That
liberal promise on the part of Memphis stirred other towns to do like-
wise.® The agitators favoring the road used the plea that the newly
chartered Memphis and Charleston project would link the communitics
of West Tennessee, northern Mississippi, and northern Alabama with
the markets of Charleston, and with Nashville.*

It was fortunate that the Memphis and Charleston Company had in
its ranks two able supporters, “Lean Jimmy” Jones and Sam Tate.™
The former took the stump in favor of the road. Books were opencd
immediately, and within three days $295,000 had been subscribed. A
delegation was present at the Huntsville convention to represent the

Tennessee River Valley Railroad Company. The delegation agreed o
submit its franchise to the Memphis and Charleston Company and to

make an additional subscription, provided the latter company would
appoint a competent commission to inspect the properties of the Ten-
nessee Valley Company and to make a joint estimation of its value. The
convention adopted resolutions to the effect that the proposition of the

"Ibid., 285.
B[ aws of Tennessce, 1845-1846, chapter 182, p, 266. . :
2The road was not built until in the fiftics, however; all the intervening time was

spent by officials of the company in stirring up sentiment favorable to the project.
“Memphis Tri-Weckly Appeal, October 25, 1849,
“Southern Advocate, October 25, 1849,

“The American Railroad Jowmal, November 10, 1849.
"Sam Tate became president of the road on April 1, 1854, He succeeded A, F.

Mills, who in turn had succeeded “Lean Jimmy” Jones (Annual Report, 1854).
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Tennessee Valley Company be accepted, starting from Men..ais as the
western terminus, and following the old LaGrange and Memphis and

the Tuscumbia and Decatur lines as a general guide.*

The securing of the right-of-way between the points covered by the
charters of the two railways which had merged with the Memphis and
Charleston Company was a much more difficult problem than the com-
missioners ever had supposed it would be.”® The topography of the
country through the southern part of Tennessee was a very influential
factor in the location of the route. It was necessary to drop down into
the northern counties of Mississippi in order to avoid the steep grades
which existed along the southern boundary of Tennessee. The Mis-
sissippi route was over a gentle rolling terrain. If the road were to be
constructed over the Tennessee route, it was quite obvious that it would
have to turn south almost at a right angle in order to connect with the
Tennessee Valley road. Then, too, the gorge formed by the Tennessee
River was not a very cheerful inducement to the Memphis and Charleston
builders attempting such a thing. It was a certainty from the time of
the Memphis convention of 1845 that the Holly Springs, Mississippi,
group would hold out for the projection of the road through that city.
With these facts in hand the commissioners of the railroad company
approached the legislature of Mississippi for legislative sanction of their

intentions to direct the route of the Memphis and Charleston Company
through the northern counties of the state.?

The commissioners were not as hospitably received in Mississippi as
they had been in Alabama. The legislature passed an act, which became
a law without the governor’s signature, that if the road were to be built
througl} Mississippi, it would have to pass through Holly Springs, else
the legislature would refuse to sanction a charter. The act giving the
company perx:nission to pass through Mississippi read in part as follows:

[hat the. sald company shall have the right-of-way through the terri-
tory of this state, to construct their said road, beginning at some point
on the northern boundary of the state, and to pass through the town of
lHolly Springs, and thence casterly through the state to the eastern
boundary thereof, so as to cross the western boundary of the state of
Alabama at any point which may be desired.”*! The act was wholly un-
acceptable to the Memphis and Charleston Company, and it was neces-
'\s;ry foy the legislature of Tennessee to come to the rescue of the
.\ ::mphxs and Cha}'lcf.top Company. Tennessee’s legislators passed an
¢t granting a Mississippi company, the New Orleans, Jackson, and

:The Southern Advocate, Docember 7. 1849,
The LaGrange and Memphis and the Tennessee Valley companics.

“The legislature of Alabama sanctioned ildi
: the building of the M | ¢
ku‘ltrg.:d throug!l that state (Lates of Alabama, 1849‘51350. %Io.c;nagm:.a?g.}?arlc‘ i
ws of Mississippi (Jackson), 1850, chapter 336, p. 509, |
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Great Northern, the privilege of building its line all the way across (.
state of Tennessce from the southern boundary, west of the Tennessce
River, to the northern boundary of the state.** At the same time legis-
lative provisions were made for the Memphis and Charleston Company
to extend its line across the southern section of Tennessee to a connection
with the Nashville and Chattanooga road at some point in Tennessce.!?
Thus fortified, the commissioners re-appeared before the Mississippi
legislature to implore that body to charter the Memphis and Charleston
road through that state on more generous terms. The legislature finally
yiclded by passing a bill allowing the company to survey the right-of-way
across the state at any place it chose, provided the governor would
sanction the measure with his signature. The governor refused to sign
the bill unless he were granted the privilege of selecting an engineer to
make the survey. The engineer was to instruct the governor as to the
most advisable routes, and the governor was then to select the route that
best suited him. The bill also stipulated that the road should pass, as
nearly as possible, through the center of Tishomingo, Tippah, and
Marshall counties. It was to pass through the center of Marshall
county to Holly Springs, thence to the northeastern corner of the state.
As a reward for the location of the road over the right-of-way just de-
scribed, the legislature provided that $500,000 should be subscribed to
the capital stock of the company, but the joker in the situation was that
the act failed to state who should subscribe the stock, whether the state,
or the town of Holly Springs and the surrounding counties. There was
one section of the act which provided that the commissioners of the
railroad company could go ahead and locate the road where they saw
fit, provided the engineer employed by the state of Mississippi decided

that the Holly Springs route was wholly impractical.**

Had the route by way of Holly Springs been accepted, it would have
necessitated the building of ten miles more trackage at an additional
expenditure of $195,000.4° Already LaGrange and Tuscumbia had
been selected definitely as points on the road,’® and to distort the route

®Laws of Tennessee, 1851-1852, chapter 204 p. 314,
“On the failure of the Memphis and Charleston Company to sccure favorab

legislation at the hands of the legislatures of Mississippi and Tennessee, the Alabarm)
legislature made provisions for the construction of a railroad of its own, this road 1o
be known as the Mississippi and Atlantic Railroad Company (Laws of Alabamsa.
February 12, 1850, No. 129, p. 185).

“Laws of Mississippi, March 11, 1852, chapter 35, p. 101,

“The railroad company asked for only seventy miles of right-of-way throurh
Mississippi, but at the first signs of the legislature giving way to the company, the
citizens of the northern part of the state said the road cither should be built throush
Holly Springs or not pollute the soil of Mississippi. I'he citizens said further that ."
the legislature did permit the railroad company to choose its route, thcy would reuv

the act legally and forcefully (Sonthern Advocate, March 10, 1852). :
“A promise had heen made at the time of the purchases of the LaGrange »n

Memphis, and the ['ennessee Valley companics,
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s0 as to go by Holly Springs would have been preposterc : After a
heated argument of four ycars, the Mississippi legislature finally
yiclded, and the Memphis and Charleston Campany was allowed th.

privilege of locating its Mississippi right-of-way where it pleased.*®

While the Mississippi controversy was being settled, the citizens of
Madison county, Alabama, were busy making preparations to build tl.e
road through their community. Already $340,000, two-thirds of which
had come from the town of Huntsville, had been subscribed. Two
survey parties were placed in the field west of Huntsville to make Surveys
of two separate routes to the western line of Alabama. A railroad of
such far-reaching influence was of vital concern to Madison county,
because that county had a large amount of capital, and 13,000 slaves
sccking employment.*® The railroad company was faring decently clse-
where in its territory. The engineers estimated that the total cost of
the road from Memphis to Stevenson, Alabama, would range between
42,500,000 and $3,000,000.” On April 29, 1850, the company was
’fprmed-with “Lean Jimmy” Jones, R. C. Pickley, Danicl Looney of
Icn.ncssee; Judge Clayton of Mississippi; and Robert F ernc, Géorgc
Derine, R. M. Patton, and J. C. Goodloe of Alabama, as directors.
Le:‘m Jimmy” Jones was unanimously elected president of the board
of directors, and the young company set forth upon its own feet,%

Two.survey parties had been in the field, one since July 12, and the
other since August 26, 1850, for the purpose of making a thorouzh
survey of the whole route. A survey of 539 miles of line, using Hunctas-
ville as a starting point, was made.®® The route of the survey by way

“"Chief Engineer’ ‘ : : : :
F-Conomicfs, “ﬂ:lfucn g‘t oﬁ"ﬁ" C(.Memphu), April 1, 1853. Copy in Bureau of Railway

“The company in an earlier act had been forced to i ississipni
'Ch?‘&“' Cgﬂlmﬂy, and the state of Tenncssee had been ga:?::l ?: gtt?ant:‘ ca I\c{}::srlt?; ptp;
tranted the Memphts and’ Chorlones Comparey e Tallomion e ol 864, bawever,
Qi . : any the Ilollowing privilege: * .
,::(r'"cg:pg?’;ﬁ:al;t :&‘” cc::’t‘::{r:gct’]:g r ;9(13-0{-:0@' to cons}t‘mctgthl:ir rofg thr'gt}:;ltu :lh:

state al any point that the r desi .
;,‘:':lc":;‘lc)gu:(ilalghth?rcof. S0 as o form a connection between Mc{lmnlllai: igc;;\rccsznct:;
Appi Marcl? ] lgg:stc;n, South Carolina, or other Atlantic ports” (Lazws o £ Miscis.
tomplications arisine. C“"l’:c" 2, p. 83). With the cxception of certain temnorary
emphis 111;1 C'S nllz out of the relations with the Mississippi Central Comlm;y “the
Charleston Rail O npny accepted the charter (Hester v. Memphis. |
\rieston Rai road Company, 3 George, Mississippi Reporis 378) s
Memphis Appeal, September 12, 1850 ' :
Mobile Advertiser, ) anuary 30, 1850,

lluA : T . ° :
] lRSO,nmnl Report,” in The American Railroad Jowmal, April 27 1850, also June

“hid., June 1, 1851,
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more cven gradient.™ Immediately following publication of the en-
gineer's report, the mayor of Memphis authorized the issuance of $200,-
000 in city bonds, to be paid to thé company not later than April 1,
1851.% At the same time that the city of Memphis was offering its
support, the citizens of Marshall county, Mississippi, voted favorably
upon the proposition to extend the railroad company a subscription of
£100,000. The Marshall county stock was subscribed, however, on the
condition that the road would pass through the town of Holly Springs.’

“Lean Jimmy" Jones took it upon himself to see the road through its
financial troubles. He visited New Orleans on a speaking tour in favor
of the road. As a result of his first speech in that southern city, he
secured a subscription of $700,000, and upon making a second speech,
he secured an additional $100,000.°"® Jones pointed out to his New
Orleans hearers that more than 250,000 bales of cotton would be lost to
the New Orleans trade unless Memphis and New Orleans beat the
Mobile and Ohio Railroad Company to the territory east of Memphis
with a railroad. He also said that because of the cheaper freight rates
which the cotton planters would receive, the Memphis and Charleston
Railroad Company would be able to maintain the cotton trade for New
Orleans.” Unwilling to neglect any opportunities to secure subscrip-
tions for the road, Jones visited Charleston, where he made a strong
plea to the citizens of that city. There, as in New Orleans, he met with
a fair amount of success. The citizens of Charleston voted to extend
the city's credit, to the extent of $250,000, to the construction of the

road.®
In Huntsville the citizens of Madison county and of the town “re-

buked Robert Rhett and secession in one moment, and sustained a sub-
stantial subscription for the Memphis and Charleston Railroad in the

next,” vofing 1,195 “for” and 726 “against” aiding the road.”

The funds to pay for the construction of the road were forthcoming
from two sources; first, from the private and public subscriptions, ant
from the cities of Memphis, New Orleans, and Charleston ; and, second,

“Engineer’s Report, January 15, 1851, Copy in Bureau of Railway Economics,
Washington, D. C.

“These bonds were issued on condition that the company give a lien on the road, an
comply with the conditions of locating the depot in Memphis (Southern Advocale,
February 19, 1851).

“The American Railroad Jowrnal, February 22, 1851,

wSouthern Advocate, March 12, 1851,

“The American Ratlroad Journel, March 15, 1851,

“The city of Charleston refused to make this subscription until the Tennessee legis-
lature would allow it to elect one director (Sowthern Adwvocate, January 29, 1852).
This adjustment was made, and the city of Charleston was allowed to seclect ont
director (The American Railroad Jonrnal, Fehruary 7, 1852).

*Mecemphis Enguirer, October 7, 1851.

lhe Lulding of the Memphis and Charlesion R ailyoad

al

from the sale of the state bonds of Tennessce Further aid was ¢x-
tended by the commissioners’ courts of Madison and Marshall counties
in Alabama at called sessions in June. The Madison county court sil-
scribed $50,000, in addition to the $100,000 which the county had
already subscribed, The Marshall county court unanimously subscribed
$100,000 on the part of that county,®! |

Work was begun simultaneously on each end of the road. The firet
spike was driven on the west end of the road in Memphis on April 1,
1852; by April 1, 1853, the first forty miles of the road were completed
and in operation. The fact that the company was in a position to put

the west end of the road into operation almost immediately was a big

factor in impressing the people with the importance of the project,’®
On the east end of the road the citizens of Huntsville were awakened on
May 21, 1852, by the boisterous shouts of a long procession of Irishmen

who were in the employ of “Mister” Grey and Company and who were

on their way to break ground for the railroad.%

At the meeting of the board of directors in Memphis on February 19,
1853, much important business concerning the future of the road was |
transacted. A contract was issued to George Peabody and Company of
London for 800 tons of iron at the rate of forty-five dollars per ton,
The iron was purchased to lay the Somerville and Moscow branch, which

had been accepted as a part of the Memphis and Charleston system.™

The Somerville route was important to Memphis because it would con-

nect that city with a rich cotton and slave belt. The counties tributary
to the 'Somemllc and Moscow branch owned 20,300 slaves, and were
producing cotton in proportion.®

Despite the early construction of the east and west division, the

Memphis and Charleston Company experienced extreme difficultics

“This state aid was provided for in an act entitled: “An Act to Establish a System

of Intermal Improvements in This State.” It provided that when certain railroad

companies, of which the Memphis and Charleston was one, had prepared thirty miles

|

of roadbed for the rails the governor of the state was to be instructed to deliver the

‘late’s six per cent bonds to the extent of $8,000 !
. : . per mile, for each mile of road in
reacdiness for iron. This moncy was to be used only in the purchase of rails, chairs,

spikes, and other road equipment. The state was to be given a mortgage on the

right-of-way, masonry, bridges, subscribed stock, and materials purchased and de-

livered (Zawos of Tennessee, 1851-1852, chapter 151, p. 204).
“T'he Daily Appeal, May 21, 1852 |
“Ibid,, May 21, 1852.

“The Southern Advocate, May 26, 1852,

“Mobile Daily Advertiser, March 18, 1853.

“Memphis Daily Appeal, November 15, 1853.
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when an attempt was made to build westward from Tuscumbia.®® In
1854 iron and labor prices went up; labor which had cost $100 per year
went up to $175, and iron prices advanced to more than fifty dollars per

ton.*"

In 1854 the internal improvements laws of Tennessee were amended
so as to allow the governor to lend $10,000 per mile to the railroad com-
panies for each mile of roadbed prepared for the iron. Aside from the
increase in the amount allowed by the state for ironing the road, gen-
crous provisions were made for use in building bridges over the larger
streams. The original requircments that “twenty miles” of the road be
prepared for the rails was amended to read “ten miles” instcad.®® The
Memphis and Charleston Company took advantage of this offer of state
aid, thinking at the time that only the main line was entitled to as-
sistance. In 1856, however, an act was passed by the state legislaturc
entitling the Somerville and Moscow branch to state aid, which assisted
materially in its completion.?

The completion of the road was only a matter of time after 1854,
Plans were made to avoid cutting through Walden Ridge by connecting
with the Nashville and Chattanooga Railroad at Stevenson, Alabama.
The Nashville and Chattanooga tracks were used jointly from this place
on into the city. The Tennessee legislature sanctioned that decision.™
It is interesting to note that at the time the two companies agreed to
cooperate there was no rivalry between the two roads. “Lean Jimmy"
Jones, perhaps, was the biggest factor in maintaining peaceful relations
between the companies. Too, the freight of the two roads was gathered

{rom sources far removed.”™

The legislature of Alabama in the past had shown a tendency to aid
projects of internal improvements by state aid. As the Memphis a.nd
Charleston Company was in need of some ready funds, a delegation
composed of C. C, Clay, L. P. Walker, G. B. Berine, and Sam Tate was

sent to Montgomery to request the legislature to grant the company stale
aid. The request was made in an impressive manner, The committce

““Scizzors,” in his letter of December 10, 1854, said “the western end of the
Memphis and Charleston Railroad, fifty miles to LaGrangc in the s::ythc:\st cormet
of Fayctte County has been doing a smashing business this scason, I'he results are
wonderful and surprise the most sanguine friends of the enterprise, Where all the
freight comes from, and where the crowds of passcngers come from and whither
bound puzzles every one. It is shrewdly suspected that thc. railroad mnl.(cs them and
keeps them going hither and thither as a means of illustrating the creative genius of
the railroad” (Memphis Daily Appeal, January 1, 1854). . ’

“Annual Report, April 1, 1854. Copy in Burcau of Railway Iiconomics, \Wash.
ington, D. C.

“Laws of Tennessee, February 8, 1854, chapter 131, p. 205.

®Ibid., February 18, 1856.

“Ibid., Fchruary 23, 1854, chapter 113, p. 699; Laws of Alabama, February 7, 1R,
No. 302, p. 298.

"Huntsville Advocate, Novembher 21, 185S.
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visited Governor John Winston, whom it assured that the Memphis
and Charleston Company was in a position to offer four times as much
sccurity as it was asking aid. Governor Winston dismissed the com-
mittee after having given it the impression that he was favorably dis-
posed toward the loan. A bill was put through both houses of the lezis-
lature granting state aid to the railroad company to the extent of $300,-
000, but to the astonishment of the friends of the road the governor
vetoed the bill."™ The bill was returned to the legislature and was passed
over the governor’s veto by a majority of one vote. The governor, 1ot
to be outdone, however, absolutely refused to allow the treasurer to pay
over the $300,000 prescribed by the legislative act.™ In the meantime,
the railroad company had sold $250,000 worth of its bonds in the city

of Charleston™ and had managed to keep construction work going with-
out the Alabama loan.”

Construction work was pushed through at a very rapid rate. Had it
not been for the misfortune of having the bridge over the Tennessee
River burn, through operation would have been possible at a much earlier
date. Only about sixty miles of the whole road were in an unfinished
condition, and iron for this unfinished portion was being hauled up from
Charleston.” Twenty-nine more miles between Tuscumbia and Steven-_
son were placed in operation on March 10, 1856, making in all eighty-
cight miles in operation on the eastern end of the road. During the
year 1856, the eastern end of the road earned over $250,000. On the
western end the completion of the road was taking place rapidly. The
citizens of Corinth, Mississippi, near the place where the road entered
Alabama from Mississippi, extended an invitation to the citizens of

Memphis to attend a barbecue which the city was giving in honor of the
completion of the road to that point.™ ;}

At last the two ends of the road were brought together, and on March
28, 1857, the final rail was swung into place and all the spikes except
thg last one were driven down. It was “Lean Jimmy” Jones who had
driven the first spike, and it was “Lean Jimmy” who drove the last one.
Jones was forced to content himself with a very short address. As Ten-

":I‘ he Mgmphis and Cl.mrlcston Company was to be loaned $300.000 on the com-
Mny's furnishing a sufficient amourt of security to be inade payable in the city of
New York, or clsewhere, as the governor might stipulate. The railroad company was
:'n :nly)pothccale not less than $500,000 of its bonds (Lazes of Alabama, 1855, No. 20,

:M cmphis Morning Bulletin, January 16, 1856,

“Ifnd., January 20, 1856,

The governor repudiated the proposcd loan on the ground that the peonle of the
u.n'r: of Ala!)ama were opposed to it (Mnbile Daily Advertiser, January 20, 1856).
"Mcmphls Morning Bulletin, March 13, 1856.
“(‘harlcs.ton Courier, January 28, 1856,
”;\(gmphls Morning Bulletin, March 12, 1856.
Ibid., November 25, 1856,
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nessee had enjoyed the privilege of driving the final spike, Alabama was
granted the privilege of making the first major address on the occasion.*

Immediately following the completion of the road, plans were made
for a gigantic celebration of the achievement, On April 28, 1857, all
roads leading to Memphis were thronged with revelers who were on their
way to see the Atlantic formally wedded to the Mississippi. A special
through train was run from Charleston to Memphis, carrying on board
the mayor, the common council, and the Phoenix Fire Company of
Charleston, and the fire company of Augusta, Georgia, besides numerous
excursionists," Newspaper men and politicians from almost every
section of the South were present.®®  There were no less than 10,000
visitors. O. H. Douglas, mayor of Memphis, was made president of
the celebration, and all visiting notables, such as governors, mayors, and
railroad presidents, were made honorary vice presidents, As the day
wore on speeches became more numerous, in fact, too numerous, The
Memphis schools and academies put on special exhibits in the moming,

At high noon the crowd gathered at the river front to witness the
marriage ceremony between the “Old Ocean™ and the “King of Floods,”
The editor of the Morming Bulletin, in an excited mood of editorial clo-
quence, said of the assemblage on the river bluff: “It was a beautiful
spectacle when the throng repaired to the river, to see our rude blufls
garlanded with such an array of female loveliness.” But to the dismay
of the “female loveliness”* assembled at the bluffs no signs of the
anticipated ceremony appeared. The crowd prepared to leave just as
the belated firemen put in their appearance. They had been'detained in
Court Square, where they had been regaled with speeches by the mayor
of Charleston and by some of the lesser lights among the visitors who
had not been given an opportunity to speak earlier in the day. The fircmen
pushed their cart, “Old Betsy,” down to the water's edge and there

‘emptied the barrel of ocean water into the tank of their cart, The mayors

of Charleston and Memphis marched down on the right hand side of
the hose, while the firemen and their paid orator marched down on the
left hand side. Reaching the end of the hose, the procession came to A
halt, and Mayor Niles of Charleston extended his ring finger and re
ceived from Mavor Douglas of Memphis the ring of bethrothal, Mayer
Douglas exclaiming: ““What these great people hath joined together let
nothing put asunder.,” Mr, Boyce, the firemen’s paid orator, then e
livered the address of the occasion. Following this speech, the firemen
pumped the salt water of the Atlantic into the air, allowing it to fall as

"Ibad,, March 29, 1857,
“Ibid., April 28, 1857,
“Ibwd,, May 2, 1857,
“Ibid., May 3, 1857,
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spray into the river," Thus the ceremony passed off without a hitch,

and left everybody happy, except one irate clergyman w'hg took the
Charleston visitors to task for desecrating the Sabbath by riding on the

trains upon returning to their homes,*
-—:ﬁh\ M. Keating, History of Memphis (Syracuse 1899), 338,
*Memphis Moring Bulletin, May 19, 1857.




